STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Berkeley County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN ALEXANDER DARRIEUX,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-000624

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
MAY 16 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Darrieux's motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence that the CD with the jail call Appellant made to his girlfriend that was presented at trial was not the original when the original was available which was a violation of Rule 1002, SCRE and Rule 1004, SCRE and which was prejudicial to Appellant because the state argued to the jury that this jail call was "critical evidence"?

2.

Did the trial court err in admitting the jail call that Appellant Darrieux made to his girlfriend when the state did not authenticate that it was Darrieux because no witness was called to identify the voice as Darrieux or that the witness talked to him, and the records custodian admitted that another inmate could use the account and name of Darrieux if Darrieux agreed and provided his name?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 23, 2015, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted John Alexander Darrieux on the charges of burglary first degree, burglary second degree, three counts of armed robbery (AR), three counts of kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. On January 26-29, 2016, Appellant Darrieux proceeded to trial before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson and a jury. Darrieux was represented by Rodney Davis, and the state was represented by E. Mason West and Daniel Poulos. R. 1. The jury found Darrieux not guilty of the burglary second degree which the state had reduced to a burglary third degree<sup>1</sup>; guilty of the burglary first degree, the three AR, the three kidnappings, and the gun charge. R. 374, ll. 20 – R. 375, ll. 12.

The judge sentenced Darrieux to thirty years on the burglary, and on each of the armed robberies and kidnappings. The sentence on the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime was five years. All sentences were to run concurrent. R. 391, ll. 17 – R. 392, ll. 19.

On February 26, 2016, a hearing was held before Judge Benjamin Culbertson on the Rule 29, SCRCrimP, motion for new trial filed by Appellant Darrieux who again was represented by Rodney Davis. The state was represented by E. Mason West. R. 393. Judge Culbertson issued an order on February 29, 2016 denying the motion.

This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> R. 34, ll. 11 – R. 39, ll. 12.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of October 21, 2014, Charles Roberts was asleep in his home as were his girlfriend Rose Simpson, and his friend and employee, Stephen Jones, who lived with Roberts. R. 108, ll. 1 – R. 109, ll. 3. Around four o'clock early morning, Rose Simpson, who was asleep on the couch in the living room, was awakened by someone knocking down the front door. Three people wearing Scream masks entered, and all had guns. One asked where was the old man. Rose knew the person meant Charlie Roberts. She never saw a fourth person. R. 52, ll. 21 – R. 56, ll. 2.

One person went to Stephen Jones' room and brought him to the living room. Another one then went to Charlie's room. R. 57, ll. 1 – 24. Eventually, Rose and Stephen were moved to the bedroom. She said that the man in the courtroom, referring to Darrieux, stood by the closet and held a gun on her and Stephen. The man wore a mask at first but then removed it because he said it was too hot. She got a good look at his face then because the robbers turned on all of the lights in the bedroom. The only item they took from her was her purse. R. 58, ll. 1 – R. 59, ll. 25.

Rose said that a woman took her purse. The woman was the leader and Rose described her as "very intimidating." R. 60, ll. 1 – 24. Rose identified Darrieux in court as the man who was there. Defense counsel objected to the identification. R. 65, ll. 13 – R. 66, ll. 16.

Stephen Jones worked off and on for Charles Robert and lived with him. In the early morning of October 21, 2014, he heard a "loud bang and a bunch of yelling." Two people wearing masks came to his bedroom, hit him in the back of the head with a gun and took him to the living room holding the gun to his head. Then they started going through the house taking items. R. 84, ll. 21 – R. 87, ll. 25.

One of the men he never saw with a mask. That man “got right in Jones’ face.” Jones identified Darrieux in court as that man. Defense counsel renewed his objection. R. 89, ll. 1 – 25.

Charles Roberts was awakened about four o’clock on the morning of October 21, 2014, by a man opening his bedroom door and “shoving” a gun at him. R. 108, ll. 19 – R. 109, ll. 22. He saw only two people because he stayed in his bedroom the entire time. One was a female. They went through everything and took from his bedroom whatever they could carry. R. 118, ll. 1 – R. 122, ll. 24. The people in his bedroom had automatic handguns. R. 124, ll. 1 – 11. The robbers were there about an hour. R. 125, ll. 23 – 25.

Roberts had owned property in a trailer park on Cindy Lane. No one was living in the property on Cindy Lane on October 21, 2014. R. 126, ll. 13 – R. 127, ll. 25. On October 21, 2014, Courtney Pringle lived on Cindy Lane. During that day, she saw a woman she knew, Natalia, that Courtney had worked with, drive up to the house next door in a tan Dodge Durango. She saw three men with Natalia come out of the house with a mattress and other items. They put the mattress in the truck. Natalia came to Courtney’s house and told her what they were doing – that they were “hitting licks.” Courtney called the police who arrived shortly. R. 196, ll. 9 – R. 200, ll. 17; R. 448.

Officer Cassandra Drew with the Berkeley County Sheriff’s Office, heard the dispatch about a Durango with mattresses on top. She went into the trailer park and saw the Durango in a cul-de-sac. Four people—three males and one female – were with the Durango. She called dispatch and other officers soon arrived. R. 206, ll. 1 – R. 208, ll. 24.

Officer Cody Graff arrived and arrested the four people for an open container of an alcoholic beverage—Raz-Ber-Rita Bud Light- in the console. He then searched the vehicle and

found numerous items including car radios, tool boxes, and other miscellaneous items. Officer transported two of the four to the county jail. R. 209, ll. 13 – R. 213, ll. 19; R. 217, ll. 1 – 25; R. 218, ll. 11 – R. 219, ll. 14.

Detective Daniel Wilson interviewed one of the co-defendants, Tristen Bower. Following that interview, the detective executed a search warrant on the home of Natalia Chisolm. R. 229, ll. 1- R. 231, ll. 25.

Tristen Bower, who was sixteen at the time of the incidents, talked to the police about the incident at the police station when he was first arrested and provided information to them. Then he gave a statement to police that was recorded on audio and video. He identified the other three co-defendants. Tristen told the officers that Natalia needed her money back because she had been robbed of \$500 recently. He told them of the first incident on Bryan Drive when they wore masks. R. 174, ll. 1 – R. 182, ll. 6.

Tristen realized that a robbery was going to happen when Natalia handed him a gun. R. 157, ll. 2 – 25. Natalia was his aunt but not biological as she was the sister of the man who raised Tristen that he called Dad. R. 152, ll. 1 – 24.

Appellant Darrieux, along with his three co-defendants Natalia Chisolm, Tristen Bower, and John Arsenalt, was charged with burglary first degree, burglary second degree, three counts of armed robbery, three counts of kidnapping, and possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. R. 40, ll. 15 – R. 42, ll. 12.

On January 26, 2016, Appellant Darrieux proceeded to trial alone without the co-defendants. R. 41, ll. 15 – 25; R. 1. However, Co-defendant Tristen Bowers testified at trial implicating Appellant Darrieux in both burglaries: the one at Charles Roberts' house and the trailer on Cindy Lane. R. 151, ll. 6 – R. 173, ll. 25.

In an in camera hearing, Tristan testified that he had received no offers from the state. R. 147, ll. 21 – R. 148, ll. 1. However, he admitted on cross examination before the jury that he hoped by his testifying at trial that “the state would not go after him on all of these charges.” He hoped to get rid of these charges. R. 178, ll. 1 – 16; R. 194, ll. 4 – 9. He met with the solicitor and his attorney and signed a proffer agreement with the state which was admitted into evidence as a Defense Exhibit 3. R. 177, ll. 9 – R. 178, ll. 16.

In a pretrial hearing, defense counsel told the judge that there were 94 jail calls of Appellant that were on CD’s, and he had understood initially that the solicitor was not going to “get into those.” Then he received an email from the solicitor on Sunday before trial saying that he did intend to use some of the calls. R. 12, ll. 18 – R. 15, ll. 11. The solicitor said he planned to introduce five jail calls. He agreed to tell defense counsel which ones. R. 18, ll. 1– 21. The judge said that the calls came under the business records exception. The state was calling the records custodian to introduce them. R. 22, ll. 20 – R. 23, ll. 16.

Defense counsel argued that there was an identity issue with the calls as the state would need to show that it was actually Darrieux making the call. Counsel argued that just because the calls used Darrieux’s account number, did not mean it was him making the call. Counsel continued to argue that inmates could use other inmates’ accounts to make calls. One of the calls included was not from Darrieux’s account. Counsel explained that the issue was identifying the caller. He argued that the state had not subpoenaed anyone who could verify that the caller was Darrieux or that they had received a call from Darrieux. Counsel also argued there was a confrontation problem if the person receiving the call was not available to testify. R. 25, ll. 6 – R. 29, ll. 3.

The state argued in response that the admissibility of the jail calls was “not in question” because they came under the hearsay exception of business records. He said it was up to the jury to decide if it were Darrieux making the call. The state said Darrieux identified himself on the call. The judge denied defense counsel’s motion for a continuance to review the calls, and ruled that the state could go forward. R. 30, ll. 1 – R. 33, ll. 17.

During the trial, before calling the records custodian from the detention center in order to introduce State’s Exhibit 123 as the jail calls, the state told the judge that defense counsel had some objections. Defense counsel argued that there were “hurdles” the state had to meet in order for these jail calls to be admitted into evidence. Counsel said these calls were hearsay because it was not a live person who heard defendant talk. He said it was not a written statement but was a phone call recorded by a third party. R. 250, ll. 19 – R. 252, ll. 11.

The second point argued by defense counsel was that the calls needed to be authenticated. He said that the records custodian can say that the calls were from Darrieux’s account number but the custodian could not say if one of the two people talking on the call was Darrieux. The other concern with the calls was a confrontation issue under Crawford. R. 252, ll. 12 – R. 253, ll. 16.

The state responded that the hearsay objection was unfounded because the calls were admitted under rule 801(D)(2), SCRE as an admission by a party opponent against interest. The state explained that they wanted to admit the phone conversation where Darrieux talked about the incident to use as proof against him as his guilt. It is just the defendant telling the other party what occurred. The judge said he might need to listen to the calls. R. 253, ll. 18 – R. 254, ll. 23.

After listening to the calls, the judge allowed only one call, Number 5, to be admitted but the state would still have to authenticate it. Therefore there was not a confrontation issue

because the female on the other end of the call did not say anything that implicated Darrieux. He sustained defense counsel's objection to suppress the other calls. Defense counsel renewed his objections to the call because he said the state still had to authenticate it. R. 260, ll. 21- R. 265, ll. 21.

Sergeant Katie Shuler testified for the state as the person at the detention center in charge of the inmates' phone access. She insured that they had a PIN number that enabled them to access the phone. She provided a CD of Darrieux's phone calls to the solicitor at the state's request. When the state showed her State's Exhibit 123, which was the CD of Darrieux's calls from the jail, the testimony was:

**State:** Do you recognize that?

**Shuler:** Yes, sir.....This is the CD that ---this one here---

**State:** Does it have your initials on it?

**Shuler:** It does ----but that ain't my handwriting.

**State:** I understand that, but is that, is that a CD you provided to our office?

**Shuler:** Yes. That's my initials, but I didn't do the writing on here.

R. 266, ll. 21 – R. 269, ll. 4.

When the state asked to move State's 123, the CD, into evidence, defense counsel objected on his prior objections and said: "Now I would focus on authentication." The judge said that the exhibit was admitted into evidence over the defendant's objection. The CD was then published to the jury. R. 269, ll. 1 – 25.

On cross examination, Sgt. Shuler admitted that inmates could use another inmate's PIN number to make a call if the inmate entered his PIN number and then "verified his voice" and

handed the phone to another inmate. She said: "We can't stop that." She agreed that it did happen from time to time. R. 272, ll. 11 – R. 274, ll. 4.

The state did rest. Then defense counsel moved for a directed verdict as to all charges. Counsel argued that all of the evidence was "mere suspicion." The judge denied counsel's motion. R. 275, ll. 6 – R. 280, ll. 5.

In his closing argument to the jury, the solicitor argued:

The last thing I want to talk about is what you heard from the jail call of John Darrieux. That jail call is critical evidence in this case as it gives you, again, a picture of what the Defendant thought about all of what was going on. This Defendant said: "I f'd up. I'm sorry. I f'd up big time. Fortunately, no one got hurt real bad with this situation here."

R. 318, ll. 19 – R. 319, ll. 1.

Defense counsel argued to the jury in his closing that if the jail call was so critical, why did the state not call the person talking on the other end to verify that it was Darrieux's voice on the call. If the call was that critical, then the state would have called the other person. Counsel argued that Sgt Shuler said that inmates used other inmates' PIN numbers to make calls. The state needed to prove even more that it was Darrieux's voice. R. 332, ll. 4 – 18.

Counsel then argued that Tristen was a "sixteen year old kid" when he talked to the police in isolation. He did not have his parents there. Counsel said that Tristen was hoping for something since he was now only seventeen. R. 332, ll. 19 – R. 334, ll. 4.

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all of the armed robberies, kidnappings, the burglary first degree, and the possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. The jury found him not guilty of the burglary third degree. R. 374, ll. 20 – R. 375, ll. 12.

### **February 26, 2016 Hearing**

On February 25, 2016, defense counsel filed a motion pursuant to Rule 29, SCRCrimP, for a new trial based on after discovered evidence. Counsel explained in the motion that he had received a call on Monday, February 1, 2016, from the Assistant Solicitor Mason West, who was the lead trial prosecutor, that Exhibit 123 was not the original compact disc of the jail call but was a copy produced by Investigator McGowan of the solicitor's office. See Motion filed February 25, 2016.

On February 26, 2016, a hearing was held before Judge Culbertson. Defense counsel, Rodney Davis was present as well as the solicitor Mason West. R. 393. The solicitor told the judge that he learned after the trial, that the original CD produced by Sgt. Shuler of the jail calls made by appellant Darrieux, was not the CD introduced at trial. The solicitor said that he notified defense counsel the following Monday immediately. He obtained affidavits from Sgt. Shuler and the investigator. He argued that the two CD's were identical. R. 396, ll. 1 – 25.

The solicitor then argued that in her testimony at trial, Sgt. Shuler said those were her initials on the CD that was introduced which was authentication. He explained that because of the process in which she used the secure software to download the calls, the CD could not be altered. He said the CD was authenticated when Sgt Shuler testified that the signature initials were hers. R. 397, ll. 1 – 21.

The solicitor explained that the purpose of the hearing was "simply to supplement the record with the CD that should have been introduced but inadvertently was not." He said a duplicate CD was introduced. He argued that under the best evidence rule, a copy was permissible and no harm was done to the defendant. R. 397, ll. 22 – R. 398, ll. 4.

Defense counsel said the ‘biggest’ purpose of the hearing was to provide a record. Counsel argued that this was a novel situation. He was asking for a new trial. R. 398, ll. 7 – R. 399, ll. 2.

The judge marked the original CD as State’s Exhibit 123A. He told the solicitor to go ahead and act as though they were in trial and he was seeking to introduce 123A. The state then called Sgt. Shuler. R. 400, ll. 3 – 20.

Sg. Shuler testified as she did at trial regarding her duties. She looked at Exhibit 123A and confirmed that was her handwriting and her initials. She admitted that she had not heard any of the calls on the CD until she was in trial. The state then moved Exhibit 123A into evidence. Defense counsel objected and renewed all of his previous objections. He argued that the issue raised by this situation is authentication which he raised previously. Since there was now the problem that a duplicate was admitted instead of the original raised the issue of authentication more. R. 401, ll. 1 – R. 404, ll. 7.

The judge said that “it’s” not really an exhibit as far as the trial transcript, but was being proffered. He then said that “if the Appellate Court wants to review it, they can or deal with it how they deem appropriate.” R. 404, ll. 8 – 12.

Sgt. Shuler said that she testified at trial that those were her initials on the CD then but she also stated at trial that that was not her handwriting. Immediately after the trial, she returned to her office and sent a copy of the original CD to the solicitor. Her affidavit was admitted. R. 405, ll. 5 – R. 407, ll. 25.

On cross examination, Sgt. Shuler admitted that she had not compared the duplicate CD that was Exhibit 123 and introduced at trial with Exhibit 123A or the original. She did compare it to photocopies of the CD. She had not reviewed the contents of 123A. R. 408, ll. 1 – 25.

Investigator Kevin McGowan testified that he made copies of the CD 123A and turned it back over. He wrote on the duplicate exactly what was on the original which included Sgt. Shuler's initials. His affidavit was admitted also. The judge ruled that he was going to allow all of the witnesses and exhibit from the hearing to be added to the record as proffered testimony. R. 413, ll. 16 – R. 416, ll. 25.

Defense counsel argued that the best evidence rule required that if available, the originals should be the evidence used. In this case, the original was available and was not used. He again argued this was a novel issue and he was asking for a new trial. R. 417, ll. 3 – R. 418, ll. 20.

The judge denied the motion for a new trial. He said that the "Appellate Court can do with it as they deem appropriate." R. 419, ll. 1 – 16.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred. in denying Appellant Darrieux's motion for a new trial based on after discovered evidence that the CD with the jail call Appellant made to his girlfriend that was presented at trial was not the original when the original was available which was a violation of Rule 1002, SCRE and Rule 1004, SCRE and which was prejudicial to Appellant because the state argued to the jury that this jail call was "critical evidence."

Rule 1001, SCRE, provides the definition of "duplicate" as:

A "duplicate" is a counterpart produced by the same impression as the original, or from the same matrix, or by means of photography, including enlargements and miniatures, or by mechanical or electronic re-recording, or by chemical reproduction, or by other equivalent techniques accurately reproduces the original.

Rule 1002, SCRE, provides that in order to "prove the content of a writing, recording, or photograph, the original writing, recording, or photograph is required except as otherwise provided in these rules or by statute."

Rule 1003, SCRE provides:

A duplicate is admissible to the same extent as an original unless (1) a genuine question is raised as to the authenticity of the original or (2) in the circumstances it would be unfair to admit the duplicate in lieu of the original.

Rule 1004, SCRE, provides:

The original is not required, and other evidence of the contents of a writing, recording, or photograph is admissible if:

- (1) Originals are lost or destroyed
- (2) Original is not obtainable
- (3) Original is in the possession of the opponent
- (4) Collateral matters

Rule 1005, SCRE, provides in part that the contents of an official record, or of a document authorized to be recorded or filed .... may be proved by copy, or testified to by a witness who has compared it with the original.

Rule 1007, SCRE, allows the contents of writings, recordings, or photographs to be proved by the testimony or deposition of the party against whom the evidence is offered or that part's written admission without accounting for the nonproduction of the original.

The question of whether to admit evidence under {Rules 1001 to 1004 collectively known as the best evidence rule} is also addressed to the discretion of the trial court. State v. Mitchell, 399 S.C. 410, 731 S.E.2d 889 (Ct. App. 2012) citing State v. Halcomb, 382 S.C. 432, 434-44, 676 S.E.2d 149, 154-55 (Ct. App. 2009).

In State v. Halcomb, Jr., 382 S.C. 432, 676 S.E.2d 149 (Ct. App. 2009), the Court of Appeals held that the best evidence rule did not require the exclusion of statements by the co-defendant's girlfriend Amber Counts, regarding a letter she received from the co-defendant, Cottrell, indicating his personal motive to commit murder which would have provided exculpatory evidence for Appellant Halcomb. The girlfriend had previously destroyed the letter which law enforcement did not receive. The only evidence of the contents of the letter was the girlfriend's statements. The trial court refused to admit the girlfriend's statements on the basis that it was unreliable and inadmissible under the best evidence rule. The Court of Appeals held that the trial court erred in refusing to admit the evidence of the letter because it had not been destroyed in bad faith, and there was no basis to exclude the girlfriend's statements under the best evidence rule. However, the Court ruled that this error was harmless and would not have changed the outcome of the trial. The Court affirmed.

Appellant Darrieux's case is distinguished from that of Halcomb because the original CD of the jail call was available. The admission of the CD of the jail call was not harmless in Darrieux's case because the only evidence against Darrieux was the jail call and the testimony of the co-defendant, Tristen Bowers. However, Tristen's testimony was biased because he admitted that he hoped by testifying to have his charges dismissed. He had motive to lie against Darrieux.

The solicitor had argued in his closing to the jury that this jail call was "critical evidence" against Darrieux. Therefore, the admission of the jail call was not harmless.

The trial court in Darrieux's case erred in admitting the jail call of Darrieux to his girlfriend where he made inculpatory statements because it was not the original and did not meet any of the exceptions under Rule 1004, SCRE. The jail call would not be admitted pursuant to Rule 1001-Rule 1007, SCRE. Under rule 1003, there was a question as to the authenticity of the original because the CD admitted at trial was a duplicate. It would have been unfair to admit the duplicate when the original was available.

Under Rule 1004, SCRE, the original was available. It was not lost or destroyed; it was obtainable; it was not in possession of the opponent Darrieux; and the call was "critical evidence" according to the solicitor in his closing argument. It was not a collateral matter.

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