ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000624

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JOHN ALEXANDER DARRIEUX,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
MAY 04 2017
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence where the CD of a phone call placed by Appellant from jail presented at trial was an original within the meaning of Rule 1001(3), SCRE. Even if the CD was found to not be an original, it was nonetheless admissible as a duplicate pursuant to Rule 1003, SCRE. Finally, any alleged error is harmless where Appellant suffered no prejudice from the playing of the particular CD presented at trial.

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence. Specifically, Appellant contends the motion should have been granted because the State violated Rule 1002, SCRE and Rule 1004, SCRE by presenting a CD of the jail phone call that was not the original when the original was available. Appellant further avers that because the Solicitor argued in his closing that the jail call was "critical evidence," Appellant was prejudiced and any error in the call's admission could not have been harmless. These arguments lack merit. While the State admitted inadvertently playing a different copy of the CD than was intended, the CD presented at trial still qualified as an original within the meaning of Rule 1001(3), SCRE. Further, even if the CD was found to not be an original, it would nonetheless be admissible as a duplicate pursuant to Rule 1003, SCRE. Finally, any alleged error in the playing of the version of the CD copied by Investigator McGowan was harmless, as Appellant suffered no prejudice from the playing of the "copy" burned by Investigator McGowan rather than the "original" CD burned by Shuler. The two CDs are identical in every regard; therefore the playing of what Appellant purports to be the "original" would not have impacted the presentation of evidence at trial.

"To prove the content of a writing, recording, or photograph, the original writing, recording, or photograph is required, except as otherwise provided in these rules or by statute."

Rule 1002, SCRE (best evidence rule). The question of whether to admit evidence under the best evidence rule is addressed to the trial court's discretion. State v. Halcomb, 382 S.C. 432, 676 S.E.2d 149, 154 (Ct. App. 2009).

Rule 1001(3) defines "original" and states: "An 'original' of a writing or recording is the writing or recording itself or any counterpart intended to have the same effect by a person executing or issuing it." In the instant case, Sergeant Shuler testified the CD was incapable of being modified. Investigator McGowan testified he took the CD made by Sergeant Shuler and burned another copy that was exactly the same as the version created by Sergeant Shuler. The fact that the two CDs are identical means the copy created by Investigator McGowan constitutes either "the recording itself" or a recording "intended to have the same effect."

The current case is very similar to State v. Mitchell, 399 S.C. 410, 731 S.E.2d 889 (Ct. App. 2012), in which this Court found digital photographs removed from a camera, placed into a computer, and then transferred to a disc for use at trial were the original photographs. A very similar sequence occurred in the instant case with the digital recording. Sergeant Shuler placed the jail phone calls onto a CD and provided them to the Solicitor's Office. Investigator McGowan later made a duplicate of that CD. The testimony by the law enforcement officers indicated nothing was altered when the data was copied from one disc to the other, nor was it even possible to alter the data. While the device holding the original recording may have changed (going from a server at the prison to a CD then to another CD), the data—the recording itself—did not change. As a result, as in Mitchell, the second CD qualifies as an original.

Even if the recording on the disc is considered a copy rather than an original, it was still admissible under Rule 1003, SCRE. Rule 1003 states: "[a] duplicate is admissible to the same extent as an original unless (1) a genuine question is raised as to the authenticity of the original

or (2) in the circumstances it would be unfair to admit the duplicate in lieu of the original.” In the instant case, there is no genuine question regarding the authenticity of the original recording. Further, there was no unfairness in admitting the recording on the disc. The effect of the recorded phone calls would be the same on the jury regardless of whether the recording was an original or a duplicate.

Finally, any alleged error in admitting the copy of the CD burned by Investigator McGowan rather than the initial copy is harmless where Appellant suffered no prejudice from the playing of that particular CD rather than the CD that was burned by Sergeant Shuler. The content of the CDs was identical, thus their effect on the jury would be identical. While Appellant contends the Solicitor’s comment during closing where he cited the jail call as “critical evidence” demonstrates the error could not be harmless, this argument fails. The call was indeed “critical evidence,” however this “critical evidence” would have been properly before the jury regardless of which particular copy of the CD was played. The only prejudice suffered from the playing of the jail phone calls was from the legitimate probative force of the evidence. Appellant, therefore, cannot prove any prejudice where the only result of playing the “original” would be that the jury would hear the exact same phone call they heard when the “copy” was played. Appellant’s convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge properly admitted a recording of a phone call placed by Appellant while in prison where the recording was properly authenticated by the corrections officer in charge of the prison's recording system.

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in admitting the jail call because the State did not authenticate that he was the caller. Specifically, Appellant avers the State did not prove the caller was him because it did not call any witnesses to identify his voice. Appellant believes that because Sergeant Shuler admitted that another inmate could hypothetically take the phone after Appellant entered his PIN and identified his voice, her testimony was insufficient to authenticate the phone call. To the contrary, having a witness identify Appellant's voice was not necessary to authenticate the recording for purposes of admitting the call into evidence. Sergeant Shuler testified that in order for Appellant to make a phone call, he would have to enter his unique Personal Identification Number and verify his voice. This testimony laid a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic.

The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Groome, 274 S.C. 189, 190-191, 262 S.E.2d 31, 32 (1980). On appeal, appellate courts give "great deference" to trial judges when reviewing evidentiary rulings. State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010); see State v. Bixby, 388 S.C. 528, 556, 698 S.E.2d 572, 587 (2010) ("[D]eference is due to the trial court's admission of the evidence."). Moreover, an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's decision to admit or exclude evidence absent a clear prejudicial abuse of the trial judge's broad discretion in evidentiary matters. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002) "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

In general, evidence must be authenticated before it can be admitted. State v. Aragon, 354 S.C. 334, 336, 579 S.E.2d 626, 627 (Ct. App. 2003). In order for evidence to be authenticated, the party offering the evidence must establish that the evidence is what it is claimed to be. Id.; See Rule 901(a), SCRE ("The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims."). That requirement can be satisfied in a wide variety of ways. see Rule 901(b)(1)-(10), SCRE (providing examples of authentication or identification conforming with the requirements of the Rule). The burden to authenticate evidence is not high and requires only that the proponent offer a satisfactory foundation from which the jury could reasonably find that the evidence is authentic. Deep Keel, LLC v. Atlantic Private Equity Group, LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 64, 773 S.E.2d 607, 610 (Ct. App. 2015). Importantly, direct proof is **not** required in order to authenticate a particular piece of evidence, and, instead, evidence can be authenticated through indirect or circumstantial evidence. Winburn v. Minnesota Mut. Life Ins. Co., 261 S.C. 568, 576-577, 201 S.E.2d 372, 376 (1973). Once the threshold requirement of authentication has been met, the evidence can then properly be admitted during trial. State v. Rich, 293 S.C. 172, 173, 359 S.E.2d 281, 282 (1987).

In United States v. Harris, 338 Fed App'x 892 (11th Cir. 2009), Harris contended a recording of a phone call was not authenticated properly. Harris argued that without a witness identifying the voice as his, the government could not properly authenticate the recording. Id. at 895. Notably, the records custodian admitted on cross-examination that sometimes inmates stole or exchanged PIN numbers. Id. at 894. The Court found:

Although no witness identified the voice as Harris's, the evidence showed that the recording was associated with Harris's jail identification number, which corresponded with the unique I-PIN number assigned to Harris. Moreover, the speaker identified himself as "Michael," which is Harris's first name. The inmate

speaker in the recording also makes reference to the actual facts at the time of the motorcycle accident that were within the Defendant Harris's knowledge, further corroborating that the Defendant is the speaker. As such, the government met its burden of authentication by providing sufficient evidence to make out a *prima facie* case that the speaker in the recording is Michael Harris.

Id.

In Appellant's case, the calling of a witness to identify Appellant's voice was not necessary to authenticate the evidence because the State was able to otherwise authenticate that the recording was what it was purported to be. Sergeant Shuler's testimony established that Appellant's PIN number was used and that when prompted to verify his voice for the recognition software, the caller stated his name as "John Darrieux." Furthermore, during the phone call, the recipient of the call referred to the caller as "John." While Appellant's assertions that no witnesses actually identified the voice as Appellant's are suitable arguments for cross-examination or closing arguments to the jury, they do not change the fact that the State cleared the relatively low bar of authentication through the presentation of circumstantial evidence. The State therefore properly authenticated Appellant's jail call, as it presented sufficient evidence that the speaker in the recording was Appellant. Thus, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the call.

Finally, even if the trial court somehow erred in admitting the jail call, any alleged error in this case was harmless due to overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). The key factor for determining whether a trial error constitutes reversible error is whether it appears beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012) (citations and internal quotations are omitted). Appellant was directly identified as a perpetrator of the crime by two of the victims who had a clear view of his face. Further, Appellant was

implicated as a participant in the robbery by Tristan Brower, one of his co-defendants. Further, Brower's version of events was corroborated by the finding of a litany of stolen goods in Chisolm's apartment, as well as the car Appellant was traveling in when they were arrested. While it was not inaccurate for the Solicitor to refer to the jail call as "critical evidence," the State presented an overwhelming amount of additional evidence of Appellant's guilt. Any alleged error is therefore harmless. Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.